IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Plaintiff and Appellant, SUPREME COURT FILED

VS.

SEP 25 2014

ISAIAS ARROYO

Defendant and Respondent,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal Fourth District, Division Three, No. G048659

Orange County Superior Court No.: 12ZF0158 The Honorable William Froeberg, Judge, Dept. C-40

ORANGE COUNTY ALTERNATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE

FRANK DAVIS
Alternate Defender
ANTONY C. UFLAND
Senior Deputy Alternate Defender
EMAIL: Tony. Ufland@altdef.oegov.com
State Bar No. 157620
600 W. Santa Ana Blvd, #600

ISSUE PRESENTED

May the criminal prosecution of a juvenile offender under Welfare and Institutions Code section 707, subdivision (d), be commenced by grand jury indictment or only by the filing of an information after a preliminary hearing?

STATEMENT OF CASE

On December 18, 2012 Plaintiff/Appellant prosecution, presented evidence to the grand jury and requested that they return an indictment against minor Defendant/Respondent Arroyo, hereinafter "Arroyo" and six co-defendants, on the following charges:

- Count 1: Penal Code section 182(a)(1)/187(a) [conspiracy to commit murder];
- Count 2: Penal Code section 186.22(a) [street terrorism].

The prosecution also requested that the grand jury find that Arroyo vicariously/personally used a firearm during the commission of the offense charged in Count One (Penal Code section 12022.53(b)/(c) (1)), and that he committed the offense for the benefit of, at the direction of, and in association with a criminal street gang, with the specific intent to promote, further or assist in criminal conduct by gang members (Penal Code section 186.22(b)).

The grand jury obliged the prosecutor, and Arroyo was arraigned on an Indictment in case 12ZF0158 on December 19, 2012. (C.T.¹ 1) Arroyo

¹ C.T. refers to Volumes 1 and 2 of the Clerk's Transcript on Appeal.

entered "not guilty" pleas to all of the charges and denied all of the enhancements contained therein. (S.C.T.² 2)

On May 24, 2013 Arroyo filed a Demurrer to the Indictment (C.T. 132-140) and a Notice and Motion to Dismiss the Indictment pursuant to Penal Code section 995/939.71 and exhibits in support thereof. (C.T. 141 – C.T. 443) On June 17, 2013 the People filed an Opposition to the Demurrer. (C.T. 444-460) On June 26, 2013 Arroyo filed a reply to the People's Opposition. (C.T. 461 – 467)

On June 28, 2013 Arroyo's Demurrer to Indictment 12ZF0158 was heard, and sustained, by the Honorable William R. Froeberg, Orange County Superior Court. As a result of that order, Arroyo was dismissed from Indictment 12ZF0158. (S.C.T. 8-9)

The prosecution filed a Notice of Appeal on July 2, 2013. (C.T. 468; S.C.T. 9)

Oral argument on the matter was set in the Court of Appeal on March 17, 2014.

On April 28, 2014 the Court of Appeal filed its unpublished opinion, which reversed the judgment of the Orange County Superior Court. On

² S.C.T. refers to the Supplemental Clerk's Transcript on Appeal.

April 29, 2014 the People filed a Request for Publication, which was granted by the Court of Appeal on May 1, 2014.

Arroyo filed his Petition for Review of the Court of Appeal's opinion in this Court on June 9, 2014 and the Court granted that Petition on July 23, 2014.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The issue presented by this case is entirely procedural. As such, the facts of the incident which gave rise to the charges contained in the indictment are not particularly material. The following is a very brief statement of the incident, taken from the Demurrer filed by Arroyo in the Superior Court:

On the evening of October 19, 2012, Santa Ana police officers observed a carload of individuals that they believed to be Los Compadres gang members drive slowly and walk through 1900 to 2200 West Myrtle Street in Santa Ana. A subsequent car stop revealed seven individuals and one loaded 5-shot revolver. (C.T. 134-135)

ARGUMENT

CRIMINAL PROSECUTION OF A JUVENILE OFFENDER UNDER WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE SECTION 707, SUBDIVISION (d), MAY NOT BE COMMENCED BY GRAND JURY INDICTMENT, AND MAY ONLY BE COMMENCED BY THE FILING OF AN INFORMATION AFTER A PRELIMINARY HEARING.

I.

INTRODUCTION

The issue in this case involves interpretation of the language contained in California Welfare and Institutions (W&I) Code section 707, subdivision (d)(4), which was implemented in 2000 after passage of California Proposition 21, the Gang Violence and Juvenile Crime Prevention Act.

Since 1961, with some exceptions, juveniles accused of committing crimes in California have been dealt with primarily by the Juvenile Division of the Superior Court, hereinafter "Juvenile Court", pursuant to W&I Code section 602, subdivision (a), which reads:

Except as provided in subdivision (b), any person who is under the age of 18 years when he or she violates any law of this state or of the United States or any ordinance of any city or county of this state defining crime other than an ordinance

establishing a curfew based solely on age, is within the jurisdiction of the juvenile court, which may adjudge the person to be a ward of the court.

In 2000, prior to the passage of Proposition 21, the only means of prosecuting minors in Courts of General Criminal Jurisdiction, hereinafter "Adult Courts", were (1) W&I Code section 602, subdivision (b) for minors 16-17 years old who committed a very short list of offenses, (2) W&I Code section 707, subdivision (a), (b) or (c) for minors 16-17 years old, or (3) W&I Code section 707, subdivision (d) for minors 14-15 years old. W&I Code section 602(b) represented the "mandatory direct-file" offenses, those that were required to be prosecuted in Adult Court. (W&I Code section 602(a)). W&I Code sections 707(a) thru (d) were discretionary, but *required* a fitness hearing in the juvenile court. (W&I Code section 707(a), (b), (c), (d)) In short, the prosecution had no vehicle to, unilaterally, decide to prosecute a minor in Adult Court. Proposition 21 drastically changed that.

As will be explained below, the plain language of current W&I Code section 707, subdivision (d)(4) requires prosecutors to proceed by way of complaint and preliminary examination rather than grand jury and indictment when discretionarily filing charges against minors in Adult Court.

Such a conclusion is also supported by a review of changes to W&I Code sections 707 and 602 made by Proposition 21. It is also supported by a review of relevant existing case law on the Proposition and on the issue.

II.

PROPOSITION 21 AND WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE SECTION 707(d) (4)

Proposition 21 was passed by voters at the March 7, 2000, Primary Election. Relevant to the present case, the initiative significantly broadened the circumstances in which prosecutors may, at their discretion, unilaterally file charges against minors as young as 14 years old in adult court, rather than in juvenile court. Specifically, the initiative completely re-wrote subdivision (d) of W&I Code section 707, to allow prosecutors to bypass Juvenile Court review entirely, and, at their own discretion, file charges against minors directly in Adult Court. Subdivisions (1), (2) and (3) of the newly written subdivision (d) specify what age minors may be filed on in adult court for which crimes. Subdivision (4), which is directly at issue in the present case, applies to "any case in which the district attorney or other appropriate prosecuting officer" files charges against a minor pursuant to this subdivision. (W&I Code section 707(d) (4))

While Proposition 21 was undeniably intended to make it easier for prosecutors to file a broader range of charges against minors in Adult Court, it did not give them carte blanche. Prosecutors' newfound power to file in Adult Court at their own discretion, conferred by Proposition 21, was not completely without any safeguards.

Proposition 21 rewrote subdivision (d)(4) of W&I Code section 707, so that it now reads:

In any case in which the district attorney or other appropriate prosecuting officer has filed an accusatory pleading against a minor in a court of criminal jurisdiction pursuant to this subdivision, the case shall then proceed according to the laws applicable to a criminal case. In conjunction with the preliminary hearing as provided in Section 738 of the Penal Code, the magistrate shall make a finding that reasonable cause exists to believe that the minor comes within this subdivision. If reasonable cause is not established, the criminal court shall transfer the case to the juvenile court having jurisdiction over the matter. (W&I Code section 707(d) (4); emphasis added)

As will be discussed below, Proposition 21 also made changes to W&I Code section 602, specifically to subdivision (c), that are instructive in answering the issue presented in this case.

THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE SECTION 707(d)(4) MANDATES THAT PROSECUTION OF JUVENILE OFFENDERS UNDER THAT SECTION ONLY BE COMMENCED BY THE FILING OF AN INFORMATION AFTER A PRELIMINARY HEARING AT WHICH A MAGISTRATE MAKES A SPECIFIED FINDING.

A court's primary task in construing a statute is to determine the legislature's intent. (*Brown v. Kelly Broadcasting Company* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 711, 724) The court first looks at the words of the statute themselves. (*Id.*) When the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for construction and courts should not indulge in it. (*People v. Overstreet* (1986) 42 Cal. 3d 891, 895) The plain language of the statute establishes what was intended by the Legislature. (See *People v. Ramirez* (1995) 33 Cal. App. 4th 559, 566 [it is unnecessary to look beyond the plain words of the statute to determine intent.].)

The prosecution's arguments to the contrary notwithstanding, W&I Code section 707, subdivision (d) (4) is not ambiguous. "[I]n sum, the People's contention that section 707(d)(4) does not require a preliminary hearing is the product of a strained attempt to create ambiguity where none exists." (*People v. Superior Court (Gevorgyan*), (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 602,

When it interpreted W&I Code section 602 and 707 *Gevorgyan* stated, ""We begin with the fundamental rule that our primary task in construing a statute is to determine the Legislature's intent.' 'The court turns first to the words themselves for the answer.' 'When the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for construction and courts should not indulge in it.'" (*Gevorgyan, supra,* at p. 610, internal citations omitted)

The drafters of an initiative and the voters who enacted it are presumed to have been aware of the existing statutory law and its judicial construction. (*In re Harris* (1989) 49 Cal. 3d 131, 136.)

Having laid the above "statutory analysis" foundation, the Gevorgyan Court stated, "Thus, the drafters of Proposition 21 presumably knew that the grand jury and indictments were not part of juvenile court statutory law. They were also presumably aware that the only judicial treatment of indictments under juvenile court law was set forth in Aguirre, a case in which the indictment of a juvenile was relevant only to satisfy statute of limitations concerns, and the defendant was ultimately charged by information and given a post-indictment preliminary hearing. Finally, the drafters presumably knew that the California Constitution was amended by Proposition 115 in 1990 to add article I, section 14.1, which provides that 'if

a felony is prosecuted by indictment, there shall be no post-indictment preliminary hearing.' This constitutional amendment abrogated previous judicial decisions and established that a defendant is no longer entitled to a post-indictment preliminary hearing or any other similar procedure."

(Gevorgyan, supra at pp. 610-611, internal citations omitted)

An in-depth review of *the language* used in W&I Code section 707, subdivision (d)(4) clearly and unambiguously shows that the intent of the legislature in enacting the section was to require preliminary examinations in all prosecutions conducted under the section.

A.

In conjunction with the preliminary hearing

Subdivision (d) (4) of W&I Code section 707 requires that a specific finding be made "in conjunction with the preliminary hearing"; which would not be possible if the prosecution were allowed to proceed by way of a grand jury hearing/indictment. As Gevorgyan pointed out, "[P]ost-indictment preliminary hearings have long since been abolished in California". (Id) Article I, section 14.1 of the California Constitution expressly states, "If a felony is prosecuted by indictment, there shall be no post-indictment preliminary hearing". (Cal. Const. Art. I. §14.1) Article I, §14.1 was enacted pursuant to the passage of California Proposition 115, and

was effective June 6, 1990. Post-indictment preliminary hearings had long since been abolished at the time of Proposition 21's passage in 2000.

B.

As provided in section 738 of the Penal Code

Subdivision (d) (4) of W&I Code section 707 further requires that the preliminary examination be conducted "as provided in section 738 of the Penal Code". Section 738 of the Penal Code states:

Before an information is filed there *must* be a preliminary examination of the case against the defendant and an order holding him to answer made under Section 872. The proceeding for a preliminary examination must be commenced by written complaint, as provided elsewhere in this code. (Penal Code section 738, emphasis added)

Penal Code section 738 *requires* that a preliminary examination be conducted. Subdivision (d)(4) of W&I Code section 707 requires a preliminary examination as provided in Penal Code section 738 in any case in which the prosecution elects to file on a juvenile offender in criminal court. The language in both of these section is crystal clear, and mandatory.

The magistrate shall make a finding

Finally, Subdivision (d) (4) of W&I Code section 707 specifically states that "the magistrate" shall make the necessary finding that the minor comes within the section. The statute does not provide *any* authority for anyone other than the magistrate to make this finding. The statute does not say that the magistrate "or the functional equivalent of the magistrate" shall make the finding. If the prosecution were allowed to proceed by way of an indictment there would be no way for a magistrate to make the required finding. The statute does not authorize a grand jury to make the required finding.

D.

The language of §707(d) does mandate that a discretionary direct-file prosecution be commenced by complaint and preliminary hearing

The prosecution, and the Court of Appeal, have taken pains to attempt to parse out, stretch, and manipulate language from Proposition 21 and section 707(d)(4) to erroneously argue that the statute does not "expressly bar[s] commencing a criminal action against a minor by indictment". (DCA *Arroyo* opinion p. 7) The Court of Appeal's opinion erroneously focused *only* on the words "accusatory pleading" and "proceed according to the laws

applicable to a criminal case". (DCA Arroyo Opinion p. 6) The Court of Appeal favors this general language over the very specific language that requires a preliminary hearing. Furthermore, not to put too fine a point on the exact words used, but the statute does not say that the case must proceed according to all of the laws applicable to a criminal case. The filing of a complaint, followed by a preliminary hearing conducted by a magistrate, would comply with the statute's directives. A prosecution by way of an indictment, that eliminated the use of a preliminary hearing and the involvement of a magistrate, would not.

"Ordinarily, if the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for judicial construction. A statute is regarded as ambiguous if it is capable of two constructions, both of which are reasonable. [Citations.]" (Snukal v. Flightways Manufacturing, Inc. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 754, 778 [internal quotations and citations omitted].) "In conjunction with the preliminary hearing as provided in Section 738 of the Penal Code, the magistrate shall make a finding..." is not capable of two constructions.

There is simply no way to reconcile the Court of Appeal's holding with W&I Code section 707(d)(4)'s requirement that "when" the prosecution files on a minor in criminal court, it must be "in conjunction with the

preliminary hearing", and that "a magistrate" "shall" make a finding. The black letter language of the statute is perfectly clear and unambiguous.

This interpretation of the language of W&I Code section 707(d)(4) was also adopted by the Supreme Court in *Manduley v. Superior Court* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 527, the seminal case on the constitutionality of Proposition 21. The Court, in *Manduley*, stated:

Where the prosecutor files an accusatory pleading directly in a court of criminal jurisdiction pursuant to section 707(d), at the preliminary hearing *the magistrate* must determine whether "reasonable cause exists to believe that the minor comes within the provisions of" the statute. (*Manduley*, supra at p. 550, emphasis added)

Further support for the position that section 707(d) (4) only contemplates prosecutions by way of complaint and preliminary hearings is found in *Manduley's* discussion of the due process implications of Proposition 21. In that regard, *Manduley, supra*, held:

To the extent this provision [§707(d)] creates a protected liberty interest that minors will be subject to the jurisdiction of the criminal court only upon the occurrence of the conditions set forth therein, the statute does require a judicial determination, at the preliminary hearing...(Manduley, supra at p. 564, emphasis added)

There is simply no way to reconcile the People's skewed interpretation of W&I Code section 707(d) (4) with the section's black and

white requirement that "when" the prosecution files on a minor in criminal court, it must be "in conjunction with the preliminary hearing", and that "a magistrate" "shall" make a finding.

While the Court of Appeal's opinion in the present case stated that W&I Code section 707(d) (4) "can be interpreted to allow for criminal prosecution of a minor by indictment", it never explained, or even addressed, how a magistrate would make the required findings in conjunction with a preliminary hearing in such a situation; which is specifically required by the language of the statute.

IV.

CHANGES TO THE LANGUAGE OF WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE SECTIONS 602 AND 707 MADE BY PROPOSITION 21 SUPPORT THE CONCLUSION THAT PRELIMINARY HEARINGS ARE REQUIRED FOR "DISCRETIONARY" DIRECT-FILE PROSECUTIONS.

Proposition 21 caused dramatic changes to the language of both W&I Code section 602 and 707. A review of those changes further supports the conclusion that juveniles prosecuted under the "discretionary" direct-filing provisions of W&I Code section 707(d)(4) are entitled to a preliminary hearing and may not be prosecuted in a criminal court by way of an indictment.

Welfare and Institutions Code Section 602

Prior to the passage of Proposition 21 in 2000, W&I Code section 602, which codifies "mandatory" direct-filing of minors, included a subdivision (c), which stated, in pertinent part:

(c) Any minor directly charged under subdivision (b) shall have the right to a preliminary hearing to determine if there is probable cause to hold him or her to answer. (§602(c), effective until March 7, 2000)

On March 8, 2000, as a result of Proposition 21, W&I Code section 602 was modified to completely delete subdivision (c), and any language that gave minors prosecuted in "mandatory" direct-file cases the right to a preliminary hearing.

Welfare and Institutions Code Section 707

Conversely, prior to the passage of Proposition 21, section 707 *did not* contain any language that guaranteed minors a right to a preliminary hearing.

On March 8, 2000, as a result of Proposition 21, W&I Code section 707 was drastically revised. A significant part of that revision was the creation of subdivision (d) (4), which specifically included the requirement of a preliminary hearing.

Conclusion from the change in language

The analysis of these changes made by Proposition 21 is simple and

inescapable.

Prior to Proposition 21, minors who were prosecuted under "mandatory" direct-filings (W&I Code section 602) were entitled to a preliminary examination; after its passage they were not. The legislature specifically eliminated the language that guaranteed that right in W&I Code section 602.

At the exact same time, the legislature specifically included the language that guaranteed a right to a preliminary hearing for minors prosecuted under "discretionary" direct-filings in W&I Code section 707(d)(4).

V.

EXISTING CASELAW SUPPORTS THE CONCLUSION THAT MINORS PROSECUTED PURSUANT TO THE WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE SECTION 707(d) (4) ARE ENTITLED TO PRELIMINARY HEARINGS.

In People v. Superior Court (Gevorgyan), (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 602, disapproved on other grounds in Guillory v. Superior Court (2003) 31 Cal 4th 168, Division One of the Second District Court of Appeal held, in relevant part, that prosecutors may not proceed by way of indictment when charging minors in Adult Court pursuant to W&I Code section 707(d) (4). In Gevorgyan, three minors were indicted on special circumstances murder,

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