IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)	
) No. S219178	
Plaintiff/Appellant,))	
) DCA No. G048659	
VS.)	
) (Superior Court	
ISAIAS ARROYO,) Case No. 12ZF0158)	
Defendant/Respondent.	SUPREME COURT FILED	
	OCT 27 2014	
ANSWER BRIEF ON THE M	MERITS Frank A. McGuira Cle	erk
 	Deputy	MECKAS INSULATED
FOLLOWING THE APPEAL FR	ROM THE	

FOLLOWING THE APPEAL FROM THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE WILLIAM R. FROEBERG, JUDGE PRESIDING

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

ARGUMENT

1. Prosecution Of A Minor, Against Whom Charges May Be Filed Directly Pursuant To Welfare And Institutions Code Section 707, Subdivision (d), May Be Commenced By Indictment.

Traditionally, a person accused of committing a crime while under the age of 18 could not be prosecuted in a court of criminal jurisdiction unless a juvenile court first found that person unfit for the juvenile court's jurisdiction. (Former Welf. & Inst. Code, § 602, as amended by Stats. 1976, ch. 1071, § 12, p. 4819; former Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, as amended by Stats. 1998, ch. 936, § 21.5; Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707.01, subd. (a)(1).) The requirement of a fitness hearing applied in all cases involving juveniles, except in specified situations where the minor previously had been found unfit for treatment under juvenile court law. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707.01, subd. (a)(5) & (6).)

Proposition 21 fundamentally changed the treatment of juvenile offenders. Proposition 21 provided that,

Juveniles 14 years of age or older charged with committing certain types of murder or a serious sex offense generally would no longer be eligible for juvenile court and would have to be tried in adult court.

(Ballot Pamp., Primary Elec. (Mar. 7, 2000) analysis of Prop. 21 by Legislative Analyst, p. 45.) More specifically, Proposition 21 changed section 707, giving prosecutors discretion to file charges directly against juvenile offenders in the

criminal court for specified offenses. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (d).) As contrasted with the treatment of offenses listed in subdivision (b) of section 602, where prosecution in the criminal court is mandatory, the offenses listed in subdivision (b) of section 707 may be prosecuted in the criminal court or the juvenile court at the discretion of the prosecutor.

Section 707, subdivision (d)(4) states the following:

In any case in which the district attorney or other appropriate prosecuting officer has filed an accusatory pleading against a minor in a court of criminal jurisdiction pursuant to this subdivision, the case shall then proceed according to the laws applicable to a criminal case. In conjunction with the preliminary hearing as provided in Section 738 of the Penal Code, the magistrate shall make a finding that reasonable cause exists to believe that the minor comes within this subdivision. If reasonable cause is not established, the criminal court shall transfer the case to the juvenile court having jurisdiction over the matter.

(Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (d)(4).)

The issues in this case arise from the relationship of the first sentence of section 707, subdivision (d)(4) to the second and third sentences. The People contend the meaning of the second and third sentences is clear; *if* the district attorney commences the prosecution of a minor pursuant to section 707(d) by way of information, the magistrate is required to make a finding at the preliminary hearing that reasonable cause exists to believe the minor comes within this statute, and, if reasonable cause is not established, the case must be

transferred to the juvenile court. The People and defendant disagree whether a prosecution pursuant to section 707(d) can only be commenced by information. Defendant contends a prosecution under section 707(d) must be commenced by way of information. The People, on the other hand, contend a prosecution under section 707(d) may be commenced by either complaint or indictment.

In interpreting a statute amended by a voter initiative like Proposition 21 a reviewing court applies the same principles that generally govern statutory construction. (*People v. Rizo* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 681, 685.) The court first looks at the "language of the statute, giving the words their ordinary meaning." (*Ibid.*, quoting *People v. Birkett* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 226, 231.)

In the construction of a statute ..., the office of the Judge is simply to ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained therein, not to insert what has been omitted, or to omit what has been inserted; and where there are several provisions or particulars, such construction is, if possible, to be adopted as will give effect to all.

(Code Civ. Proc., § 1858.) "The statutory language must also be construed in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme." (*People v. Rizo, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 685, citing *Horwich v. Superior Court* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 272, 276.)

When the [statutory] language is ambiguous, "[the court] refer[s] to other indicia of the voters' intent, particularly the analyses and arguments contained in the official ballot pamphlet."

(*People v. Rizo, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 685, quoting *People v. Birkitt, supra*, 21 Cal.4th at p. 243.) Only if the voters' intent is still unclear after application of these rules should the reviewing court consider whether to construe the statute most favorably to the offender. (*People v. Rizo, supra*, 22 Cal.4th at pp. 685-686.) Furthermore,

The drafters of an initiative and the voters who enacted it are presumed to have been aware of the existing statutory law and its judicial construction. [Citations.]

(People v. Superior Court (Gevorgyan) (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 602, 610, overruled on other grounds in Guillory v. Superior Court, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 178, fn. 5.)

With these rules of statutory construction in mind, it is apparent that neither the drafters of Proposition 21 nor the voters intended to (1) limit the procedures by which the district attorney may prosecute felonies, (2) revoke the historic authority of the grand jury to indict minors, or (3) create the absolute right to a preliminary hearing for a select class of individuals.

"The California Constitution specifies that felonies [shall] be prosecuted either by 'indictment or, after examination and commitment by a magistrate, by information.' (Cal. Const., art I, § 14.)"

(Guillory v. Superior Court, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 173, modification in original.) Penal Code section 949 provides in relevant part that

The first pleading on the part of the people in the superior court in a felony case is the indictment, information, or the complaint in any case certified to the superior court under Section 859a.

Thus,

"[T]he first pleading by the prosecution in felony cases may be either an *indictment* or an information.' (4 Witkin & Epstein, Cal. Criminal Law (3d ed. 2000) Pretrial Proceedings, § 169, p. 374, italics added.)"

(Guillory v. Superior Court, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 174.)

Subdivisions (d)(1), (d)(2), and (d)(3) of section 707 state, in relevant part, that "the district attorney ... may file *an accusatory pleading* against a minor ... in a court of criminal jurisdiction" under certain specified circumstances. (Emphasis added.) The first sentence of subdivision (d)(4) of section 707 states:

In any case in which the district attorney ... has filed *an accusatory pleading* against a minor in a court of criminal jurisdiction pursuant to this subdivision, the case shall then proceed according to the laws applicable to a criminal case.

(Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (d)(4), emphasis added.)

As we pointed out above, the first accusatory pleading on the part of the district attorney in the superior court in a felony case may be a complaint, an information, *or an indictment*. It is reasonable to conclude that in using the broad term "accusatory pleading," rather than the more specific terms complaint or information, the drafters of subdivision (d)(4) of section 707 intended that prosecutions under section 707(d) could be commenced by *either* of the traditional methods, indictment or information. Had the drafters intended that prosecutions under section 707(d) could only be commenced by way of information, it is reasonable to assume they would have said so.

The conclusion that the drafters intended that prosecutions under section 707(d) could be commenced either by indictment or information is further supported by the language in the second clause of the first sentence of section 707, subdivision (d)(4), that "the case shall then proceed according to the laws applicable to a criminal case." A prosecution that is commenced by way of indictment "proceed[s] according to the laws applicable to a criminal case." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (d)(4).) Thus, the plain language of section 707, subdivision (d)(4) places no limitation on the procedures by which the district attorney may commence the prosecution of a minor pursuant to section 707(d).

Moreover, the unambiguous language of Penal Code section 917 states that "[t]he grand jury may inquire into all public offenses committed or triable within the county and present them to the court by indictment." "The grand jury is a judicial body that is part of the judicial branch of government." (Guillory v. Superior Court, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 174.) "The grand jury serves as the functional equivalent of a magistrate who presides over a preliminary examination on a felony complaint." (Stark v. Superior Court (2011) 52 Cal.4th 368, 406.) It is the duty of both the magistrate and the grand jury to "determine whether sufficient evidence has been presented to support holding a defendant to answer on a criminal complaint." (Ibid., quoting Cummiskey v. Superior Court (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1018, 1027.)

Furthermore, the Court of Appeal recognized in *People v. Aguirre* (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 373, that the broad and unambiguous language of Penal Code section 917 means that minors who are alleged to have violated a criminal law may be charged by indictment, even though a petition filed by the district attorney in juvenile court was the usual method by which juvenile court proceedings seeking a determination of wardship were commenced. (*People v. Aguirre, supra,* 227 Cal.App.3d at p. 380.) The court found no cases in

California or any other jurisdiction which "limit the authority of the grand jury to indict persons of any age, providing the offense has been committed or is triable within the county." (*People v. Aguirre, supra,* 227 Cal.App.3d at p. 378.) The court thus concluded,

In light of the fact that complaints and indictments are both accusatory pleadings, it is clear the law contemplates a person may appear before the court upon an accusatory pleading such as a grand jury indictment filed in the superior court, even though he or she was in fact under the age of 18 years at the time the offenses were committed.

(*Id.* at p. 381.) This Court has also affirmed "the grand jury's historic authority to indict minors" (*Guillory v. Superior Court, supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 176.)

Therefore, at the time Proposition 21 was enacted the established law clearly permitted the district attorney to commence a felony prosecution against a minor by way of grand jury indictment. The drafters of Proposition 21, and the voters who adopted it, are presumed to have been aware that all felony prosecutions could be by way of indictment and that the grand jury had the authority to indict minors. Thus, absent express language to the contrary, it is reasonable to conclude the drafters and voters intended for prosecutions under section 707(d) to be by *either* of the constitutionally sanctioned methods for prosecuting a felony, namely by information *or* by indictment.

This interpretation not only comports with the recognized intention of Proposition 21 to "expand, not revoke, ... the authority of grand juries over juveniles[]" (*Guillory v. Superior Court, supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 177), but it also harmonizes section 707(d) with Penal Code section 917 and complies with the rules of statutory construction. The conclusion that offenses prosecuted under section 707(d) may be commenced by indictment is consistent with the broad language of Penal Code section 917 that "[t]he grand jury may inquire into *all* public offenses committed or triable within the county and present them to the court by indictment." (Emphasis added.) "[T]he word 'all' means 'all' and not 'some." (*Joshua D. v. Superior Court* (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 549, 558.) To harmonize section 707(d) with the broad reach of Penal Code section 917 it is necessary to interpret the former section as authorizing the indictment of individuals prosecuted under that section.

In contrast, defendant's contention that prosecutions under section 707(d) may only be by information directly conflicts with Penal Code section 917. Defendant's interpretation of section 707(d) *implicitly* revokes the grand jury's authority to inquire into *all* public offenses. According to defendant, after the passage of Proposition 21 the grand jury has the authority to inquire into all public offenses committed or triable within the county *except* those committed under the circumstances set out in section 707(d). Stated another

way, defendant's interpretation of section 707(d) would implicitly create a class of individuals – i.e., minors who commit felonies under the conditions set out in section 707(d) – whom the grand jury would no longer have the authority to indict.

Although the voters undoubtedly have the power to curtail the authority of the grand jury in this way, defendant can point to nothing in the language of Proposition 21, section 707(d), or the ballot materials to support his argument that the drafters of Proposition 21 or the voters intended to revoke the authority of the grand jury to inquire into *all* public offenses or to create a class of individuals who were beyond the reach of the grand jury's inquiry. On the contrary, as we pointed explained above, Proposition 21 "was intended to expand, not revoke, ... the authority of grand juries over juveniles. [Fn. omitted.]" (*Guillory v. Superior Court, supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 177, fn. omitted in original.) As noted by this Court in a similar context, "It ... seems unlikely such a limitation on the grand jury's historic authority to indict minors ... would go unmentioned." (*Id.*, at p. 176.)

A further reason for rejecting defendant's interpretation of section 707(d) is that it would impliedly repeal the power of a grand jury to indict a minor. As we explained previously, grand juries have historically had the right

to indict minors for the commission of public offenses. Prior to 1879, the *only* means of prosecuting felonies was by indictment. (Cal. Const. of 1849, art. I, § 8; *People v. Vierra* (1885) 67 Cal. 231, 232.) The juvenile court system did not exist before 1909. (Stats. 1909, ch. 133, § 1, p. 213; *Manduley v. Superior Court* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 537, 596 [dis. opn. of Kennard, J.].) At early common law, all persons 14 years of age and older had the capacity to commit crimes and were considered fully responsible for their criminal conduct. (*In re Gladys R.* (1970) 1 Cal.3d 855, 863-864.) Thus, from 1849 to 1879 the only means of initiating the prosecution of juveniles for felonies was by indictment.

Today, the power of grand juries to indict juveniles is confirmed by statutory and case law. Penal Code section 917 provides that the grand jury may investigate all public offenses committed within the county. A minor may commit a "public offense," or "crime." (Pen. Code, § 26, subd. One, [persons of all ages are capable of committing crimes, except for children under the age of 14 when there is no clear proof they knew the wrongfulness of the act charged against them].) Appellate decisions have consistently held that minors may commit public offenses. (*People v. Aguirre, supra*, 227 Cal.App.3d at p. 379; *In re Paul C.* (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 43, 50.) Accordingly, because a minor may commit a public offense, the unrestricted language of Penal Code section 917 gives the grand jury the power to indict a minor for the

commission of a public offense. The authority of the grand jury to indict minors has also been recognized by the courts, specifically this Court in *Guillory* and the Court of Appeal in *Aguirre*.

If, as defendant contends, section 707(d) contains language incompatible with the indictment of a minor, then Proposition 21 has amended by implication the statutory authority of grand juries to indict minors as set out in Penal Code section 917. But an implied repeal of Penal Code section 917 would violate accepted rules of statutory construction.

The doctrine of implied repeal holds that when two statutes concern the same subject matter and cannot be reconciled with each other, the more recent statute is deemed to have repealed the first statute by implication. (*In re Thierry S.* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 727, 744.) Repeals by implication are disfavored, and there is a strong presumption against the repeal of a statute in this manner. (*Roberts v. City of Palmdale* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 363, 379.) The presumption against implied repeal is so strong that

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